SUPREME COURT NO. <u>90363</u>-3

NO. 69255-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WEST COAST, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Appellant,

v.

CAMANO CO-OPERATIVE WATER AND POWER CO., a Washington Corporation.

Respondent

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

W. Mitchell Cogdill Cogdill Nichols Rein Wartelle Andrews Vail 3232 Rockefeller Avenue

Everett, WA 98201

425-259-611**T**

Attorney for Appellant West Coast, Inc

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a contract dispute between West Coast, Inc., (West Coast) a real estate development company, and the Camano Water

Co-Operative, (Camano Water) regarding installation of new water mains for a parcel of real estate on Camano Island known as Saratoga Ridge.

Camano Water supplies water to portions of Camano Island, including Saratoga Ridge. As a cooperative, water is provided by Camano Water to shareholder/consumers of Camano Water.

West Coast learned of an earlier attempt to develop Saratoga Ridge. Part of that attempt included development of a map regarding water system upgrades which would provide water flow adequate to service Saratoga Ridge.

That information was provided to West Coast by a Camano Water representative. (V.I, p.207, Ex. 71). The information included designs which would provide fire flow of 500 gallons per minute (gpm) or 750 gpm to Saratoga Ridge. The map included in that information showed where upgrades to the system would have to be made in order to achieve the increased fire flow capacities.

The information provided by Camano Water did not show any areas where the system would require crossings under any roads and Mr. Robinett was never told about the potential need for any road crossings prior to his meeting with the Camano Water Board. (V.II, p.163-64; Finding of Fact #19). Mr. Robinett was also never told the information he received was in any way incomplete or that it should have contained

information showing placement of road crossings for the water system. (V.II, p.164).

According to the information provided by Camano Water an increase of water flow to 500 gpm could be obtained by installing approximately 2,660 lineal feet of pipe. That would be accomplished by replacing approximately 750 feet of 3 inch pipe with 8 inch pipe in one area, and replacing approximately 1,910 feet of 4 inch pipe in another. (Ex.71).

An alternate plan which would provide 750 gpm flow required much more work and included installation of approximately 5,470 lineal feet of pipe. (Ex.71).

Mr. Robinett took the two plans to a Camano Water Board meeting on February 19, 2004. He placed the information he had been provided before the board to discuss what work would be needed to provide sufficient water to allow development of Saratoga Ridge.

The Camano Board first decided the 500 gpm flow would be appropriate. Next, the total length of pipe, size of the pipe, and area in which the pipe was to be installed was confirmed. (V.II, p.165-66).

Mr. Robinett left that meeting with the clear understanding of the amount of pipe needed to be installed and the location and size of the pipe to be used to meet the requirement of 500 gpm flow. There was a rough

estimate of the cost of performing the work. (V.III, p.99-101). There was never any discussion about improving Camano Water's entire system. (V.III, p.103).

Knowing what was required to develop Saratoga Ridge in terms of water availability, West Coast finalized purchase of the property and obtained a construction loan that would provide working capital to perform the work needed. (V.II, p.154, Ex.75).

In March of 2004, West Coast hired a land surveyor to do preliminary plat and survey work. (V.I, p.37-40). He met with representatives of Camano Water regarding survey and design of the planned upgrades. Mr. Downing was directed by Camano Water to do topographical maps in a specific area of Saratoga Ridge consistent with the plans shared with the Water Board at the February 2004 meeting, and was never told to locate proposed road crossings. (V.I, p.42). Mr. Downing was never told to show any work related to hooking up homes which already existed in the area across from Saratoga Ridge. (V.I, p.47).

On October 27, 2004, after multiple inquires, West Coast received a Developer Extension Agreement which West Coast signed and then paid a \$300.00 fee. (Ex.4, Ex.5). That Agreement called for West Coast to install approximately 2,660 lineal feet of pipe to benefit Saratoga Ridge and described the location of the work. (Ex.4).

By letter dated November 22, 2004, West Coast was notified that Camano Water approved the Developer Extension Agreement. (Ex.6).

Unknown to West Coast at the time, on November 1, 2004, different plans were approved by Camano Water for upgrading the water system in the area. (Ex.22). Those plans were not attached to the Agreement sent to West Coast. They called for road crossings and additional housing hook ups.

Camano Water knew of the second plans when it received the signed Developer Extension Agreement from West Coast. In spite of this, Camano Water signed and approved the original Developer Extension Agreement which had been signed by West Coast, and did not inform West Coast of the existence of the new plans when it notified West Coast the original Development Extension Agreement had been approved by Camano Water.

Approximately four to eight weeks after the Developer Extension Agreement was signed, West Coast received some material that contained two map drawings labeled "preliminary" that were dated November 1, 2004. (V.II, p.178, Ex.21). Those drawings identified three separate road crossings to be included in installation of the water plan to increase fire flow in Saratoga Ridge.

No one from West Coast had ever seen any drawings prior to this that called for road crossings. The crossings were not a concern to West Coast at that time because they were marked "preliminary" and appeared to be a submittal to the Department of Health for a system wide expansion for Camano Water. (V.II, p.178-81).

By letter dated February 1, 2005, Camano Water notified Island County that a Developer Extension Agreement had been entered between West Coast and Camano Water. That was the original Agreement which identified the extent and location of the work to be performed by West Coast and which had been signed by West Coast on October 27, 2004 and approved by Camano Water with notice given to West Coast of the approval on November 22, 2004. (Ex.7).

West Coast proceeded to perform under the terms of the original Developer Extension Agreement but Camano Water began insisting on expanded work not included in the original Agreement. Performing the new requirements would double the scope of the work originally agreed to and double the costs. (V.III, p.14, p.38).

By letter of June 6, 2006, Camano Water demanded that West Coast provide three road crossings and hook up 33 residences to the water line to be installed by West Coast. (Ex.12).

Ultimately, West Coast determined they simply could not perform the extra work Camano Water was demanding which was not included in the signed Developer Extension Agreement. The project was shut down. (V.III, p.25-26).

On October 26, 2010, West Coast filed a Complaint for Breach of Contract/Anticipatory Repudiation, Negligent and Intentional Misrepresentation, and Estoppel. In addition, the Complaint alleged Camano Water sought to impose additional conditions to the Agreement between the parties. (CP Sub.1).

Following motions for Summary Judgment and Motions for Reconsideration, the case was tried to the court over a three day period. At the conclusion of West Coast's case in chief, Camano Water moved to dismiss. The trial court denied the motion on the basis the Developer Extension Agreement was signed by both parties, was sufficiently particular with respect to the project contemplated, and was a sufficiently binding contract. (V.III, p.137-38).

Following trial, the trial court issued a letter ruling along with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (CP Sub.109, 110). The trial court reversed its earlier holding and found there was no binding agreement between the parties and the breach of contract claim was dismissed. In addition, the court found West Coast had not paid

membership fees and assessments for water shares purchased and judgment in the amount of \$107,894.65 was entered on Camano Water's Counterclaim. (CP Sub.109, p.1).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. (CP Sub.111).

On appeal, the original Opinion of Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's finding there was no meeting of the minds between the parties and there was no contract formed. With regard to Camano Water's counter-claim for money owed as dues on the twenty extra shares purchased by West Coast, the Court held:

The only issue presented on this record and briefing is whether it was error for the trial court to award the Co-op dues it identified in its counterclaim. On this issue, we conclude that the purchase of 20 shares was contingent on the approval of the development plan proposed by West Coast—a contingency rendered impossible by the failure of the parties to form a binding contract. Because this contingency never occurred, the Co-op's right to collect dues allegedly owing on the shares is nonexistent. The trial court thus erred as a matter of law in determining that the Co-op was entitled to those sums.

W. Coast, Inc. v. Camano Co-op. Water & Power Co., 177 Wash.

App. 1025 (2013) (Unpublished Opinion attached as Appendix C).

The Opinion remanded the matter to determine the amount of dues owed for one share in the cooperative. *Id*.

Camano Water filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (Attached as Appendix D). As a result of that Motion, the Court of Appeals entered its

Order Granting Motion for Reconsideration, Withdrawing Opinion, and Substituting Opinion on March 17, 2014. In that Opinion, the Court reversed its prior ruling with regard to the shareholder dues and held that West Coast owed the full amount of dues associated with the extra shares purchased by West Coast in anticipation of developing Saratoga Ridge. (Substituted Opinion attached as Appendix E).

West Coast's Motion for Reconsideration was denied by the Court of Appeals on April 17, 2014.

V. ARGUMENT

1. The Finding There Was No Agreement Between the Parties Conflicts With Decisions of This Court and the Courts of Appeal. 1

a. There was a valid agreement between the parties which was breached by Camano Water.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with cases analyzing executory contracts. The parties entered a valid executory contract when they signed, and Camano Water approved, the Developer Extension Agreement. It was more than simply an agreement to agree as found by the Court of Appeals.²

Wise v. City of Chelan, 133 Wn.App. 167, 135 P.3d 951 (2006) Section V.1(a) infra, re: elements of executory contract;

Mowbray Pearson Co. v. E.H. Stanton Co., 109 Wash. 601, 187 P. 370 (1920) Section V.1(a) *infra* re: consideration for executory contracts.

¹ The Opinion conflicts with the holdings of:

The terms and conditions set forth in the Developer Extension Agreement included: 1) Identity of parties; 2) Location of work for the extension and the legal description of the property; 3) Scope of the work to be performed, i.e. installation of 2,660 lineal feet of pipe; 4) Description of fees and charges; 5) Payment terms; 6) Engineering requirements; 7) Design standards; 8) Insurance requirements; 9) Easement issues; 10) Permitting requirements; 11) Grading requirements; 12) Water supply provisions; 13) Conditions for connection to Camano Water's system; 14) Conditions regarding final acceptance; 15) Bill of sale requirements; 16) Project management requirements; 17) Certification of cost requirements; 18) Agreement regarding restrictions and encumbrances in the development; and 19) Conveyance of title requirements.

Upon signing that Agreement, West Coast was obligated to perform the work described in that Agreement. When the work was completed, Camano Water was obligated to provide the lots West Coast created in Saratoga Ridge with water.

The essential elements of a valid executory contract are competent parties, legal subject matter and valuable consideration. Wise v. City of Chelan, 133 Wn.App. 167, 173, 135 P.3d 951 (2006). Those three elements are present in the instant case.

² Substitute Opinion p.1. (Appendix E).

Camano Water and West Coast were legally competent to contract for the work.³ The subject matter of the contract was legal. West Coast paid a \$300.00 non-refundable administration fee when the Developer Extension Agreement was signed.

In addition, a promise for a promise is also sufficient consideration to support an executory contract. <u>Mowbray Pearson Co. v. E.H. Stanton</u> Co., 109 Wash. 601, 603, 187 P. 370 (1920).

In the instant case, under the Developer Extension Agreement, West Coast promised to install 2,660 lineal feet of pipe in designated areas in order to provide sufficient fire flow to Saratoga Ridge. Camano Water promised to provide water to the property once that pipe had been installed. With water, West Coast could develop Saratoga Ridge.

If Camano Water felt the Developer Extension Agreement as presented by West Coast did not reflect the intent of the parties, it did not have to sign the agreement. Camano Water's actions speak for themselves.

West Coast made an offer through the signed Developer Extension Agreement. Camano Water notified West Coast the Developer Extension Agreement had been approved. Camano Water did not tell West Coast the agreement had been approved with conditions or any other conditional

11

³ Camano Water can enter contracts for extension work pursuant to RCW 57.22.010.

acceptance. Camano Water accepted the Agreement for West Coast to install 2,660 lineal feet of pipe in the manner and location set forth in the Developer Extension Agreement. Camano Water signed the Agreement as presented without variance.

There was a valid contractual agreement between the parties. The decision of the Court of Appeals to the contrary is error.

2. The Finding West Coast Owed Money For Dues Related To Shares In Camano Water Conflicts With Opinions Of This Court And Courts Of Appeal.⁴

In 2005, while West Coast was working to perform under the Developer Extension Agreement, Mr. Robinett received a call from a representative of Camano Water concerning co-op shares. He was told Camano Water was going to increase the price of shares from \$5,000.00 to \$7,000.00. Mr. Robinett indicated he was interested in purchasing extra shares for his development, but was concerned because his development had not been approved. He wanted assurance that if his plat was not

<u>First Methodist Episcopal Church v. Soden</u>, 131 Wash. 228, 229 P. 534 (1924) Section V.2(a) *infra* re: no binding obligation on a contingent promise;

Washington State Hop Producers, Inc. Liquidation Trust v. Goschie Farms, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 694, 733 P.2d 70 (1989) Section V.2(b) *infra* re: supervening frustration and discharge of dependent obligation;

Baillie Communications, Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems, Inc., 61 Wn.App. 151, 810 P.2d 12 amended on other grounds 814 P.2d 699; rev. den. 117 Wn.2d 1029, 820 P.2d 511 (1991) and Bort v. Parker, 110 Wn.App. 561, 42 P.3d 980, rev. den. 147 Wn.2d 1013, 56 P.3d 565 (2002) Section V.2(c) infra re: unjust enrichment.

⁴The Opinion conflicts with the holdings of:

approved, he could sell the shares back to Camano Water. (V.III, p.39-40).

Prior to purchasing the shares, Camano Water offered to buy back two shares if West Coast did not use them. (Ex.24, p.301, letter dated March 2, 2005). That was not acceptable to West Coast.

Mr. Robinett agreed to purchase 20 water shares with the caveat that if the plat was not approved as proposed or was approved for less than the lots requested, he could sell the shares back to Camano Water for the same price. (V.III, p.40; Ex.25). West Coast paid \$100,000.00 for the shares. Camano Water cashed the West Coast check and Mr. Robinett never heard any response regarding the buy-back issue. (V.III, p.40-41).

While the Saratoga Ridge project remained viable, West Coast continued to pay charges associated with the water shares. When Camano Water held up development, West Coast stopped paying the assessments. (V.III, p.42).

a. <u>Purchase of the Shares and the Obligation to Pay Dues was a Contingent Obligation</u>.

In its first Opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly identified the contingent nature of the obligation imposed on share ownership and dues payments represented by the twenty extra shares. Once it became clear

the project could not be completed as anticipated, the contingent obligation to pay dues ceased.

When an obligation is based on a contingency that never occurs, there is no binding obligation. <u>First Methodist Episcopal Church v. Soden</u>, 131 Wash. 228, 234, 229 P. 534 (1924) There, payment to a church as tithing was based on a note that was contingent on the promissor remaining in Ellensburg until the time payments were to begin. The promissor moved away from Ellensburg prior to the date payments were to begin and as a result, because the contingency did not occur, there was no binding obligation.

In the instant case, liability for dues on the twenty extra shares was based on the contingency that an agreement would be reached between West Coast and Camano Water and that Mr. Robinett would be able to develop Saratoga Ridge, complete lots, and have houses built and receive water from Camano Water. Because the Court of Appeals found there was no underlying agreement, the ability of West Coast to finish the project and develop lots pursuant to the Developer Extension Agreement cannot come to fruition. As a result, the contingency anticipated by the parties never occurred and Camano Water has no right to the alleged unpaid dues.

The decision of the Court of Appeals ignores the contingent nature of the obligation to pay dues under the purchased shares. Holding West Coast owes the full amount of the dues is error.

b. Allowing Collection of Shareholder Dues Violates the Supervening Frustration Doctrine.⁵

In <u>Washington State Hop Producers</u>, Inc. Liquidation Trust v. Goschie Farms, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 694, 733 P.2d 70 (1989), this Court adopted the Restatement of Contracts (Second) § 265, doctrine of supervening frustration and recognized it as a question of law. *Id.* at 704, 709. The Restatement states:

Where, after a contract is made, a party's principal purpose is substantially frustrated without his fault by the occurrence of an event the non-occurrence of which was a basic assumption on which the contract was made, his remaining duties to render performance are discharged, unless the language or circumstances indicate the contrary.

Id. at 700.

Here, West Coast purchased extra shares for the sole purpose of having one share per developed lot to be available when ultimately marketing the property.⁶ Because the Court of Appeals found there was

15

⁵ This theory was raised in Section V. 7, of Appellant's Opening Brief beginning at p.43. Appellant argued that because the extra shares were purchased based on the understanding West Coast would be able to develop Saratoga Ridge pursuant to the Developer Extension Agreement, if there were no underlying agreement, there could be no basis to uphold the sale or liability for dues as a result of share ownership. Appellant argued the trial court's ruling was inconsistent and contradictory.

⁶ Mr. Robinett testified, "And so what I said I would be willing to do was pay the 5,000, with the understanding that if I didn't get 21 lots approved or I didn't get any lots

no agreement between West Coast and Camano Water, West Coast was unable to force Camano Water to perform under the Developer Extension Agreement and the reason for purchasing the extra lots vanished.

Comments to the Restatement show three elements must be shown to apply the doctrine. 1) the purpose frustrated must have been a principal purpose of the party making the contract; 2) the frustration must be substantial; and 3) the non-occurrence of the frustrating event must have been a basic assumption on which the contract was made. *Id.* at 700.

In the instant case, it is clear West Coast purchased the extra shares in order to have them available to sell along with the completed building lots. The principal reason for purchasing the extra shares was the expectation Saratoga Ridge would be fully developed with 21 lots and that Camano Water would provide water to those lots. (Element 1).

The frustration was substantial. While West Coast remained willing and able to perform pursuant to the Developer Extension Agreement, Camano Water's demand for expanded work caused the project to be stopped. The Court's finding there was no underlying agreement prevented West Coast from being able to force completion of the project and being able to take advantage of the increased share ownership. (Element 2).

approved, that I could sell the shares back to the Water Company without interest accruing for the original amount" (V.III, p.39-40).

16

The parties operated on the assumption Saratoga Ridge would be developed. Camano Water contacted West Coast to inform West Coast the cost of the shares would be increasing and wanted to give West Coast the opportunity to purchase the shares at the lower price even though the development was not complete. At the time of the contract both parties anticipated a completed Saratoga Ridge. (Element 3).

The ultimate supervening event was the decision by the Court of Appeals that West Coast has no rights under the Developer Extension Agreement. That decision did not attribute fault to either party.

Because the frustrating event was not the fault of West Coast, as shown above, the doctrine should be applied. Any obligation associated with West Coast's purchase or ownership of the extra shares must be discharged.

c. The Decision Regarding Shareholder Dues Unjustly Enriches Camano Water.

West Coast was told the extra shares West Coast purchased would be subject to the non-user fee and Camano Water knew of that representation. (Vol. I, p.134; Ex.56). Regardless, Camano Water eliminated the non-user rate the same year the shares were sold to West Coast. (Vol. I, p.135). Camano Water admitted the reason for the change

was because Camano Water "..needed the revenue, quite frankly." (Vol. I, p.134).

Unjust enrichment occurs when one retains money which in equity belongs to another.

Three elements must be established in order to sustain a claim based on unjust enrichment: A benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff; and appreciation or knowledge by the defendant of the benefit; and the acceptance or retention by the defendant of the benefit under such circumstances as to make it inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without the payment of its value.

Baillie Communications, Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems, Inc., 61 Wn.App. 151, 159, 810 P.2d 12 (1991) (Internal citations omitted) amended on other grounds 814 P.2d 699 (1991), rev. den. 117 Wn.2d 1029, 820 P.2d 511 (1991).

A person is unjustly enriched when he or she profits or is enriched at the expense of another contrary to equity. Bort v. Parker, 110 Wn.App. 561, 580, 42 P.3d 980, rev. den. 147 Wn.2d 1013, 56 P.3d 565 (2002).

In the instant case, allowing Camano Water to collect the full user fees from West Coast would unjustly enrich Camano Water and should not be allowed. All three elements to establish a claim of unjust enrichment are met.

First, West Coast would be required to pay the same amount of dues as shareholders actually consuming water in spite of the fact West Coast has consumed no water at any time under its share ownership.

Second, Camano Water is aware that charging full dues to West Coast will confer a benefit on Camano Water. Camano Water admitted the elimination of non-user rates was because the co-op needed the money.

Third, allowing Camano Water to collect full dues allows an inequity. Camano Water represented to West Coast that if West Coast purchased water shares, they would be billed at the non-user rate. The very same year Camano Water sold those shares with that representation, Camano Water then eliminated the non-user rate and charged all shares the same rate.

Finally, the inequity is highlighted by the fact that had West Coast not purchased the shares in question, Camano Water would not have collected any money for those shares. The property has still not been developed. Camano Water has already collected \$100,000.00 for the shares and also wants to collect an additional \$100,000 as dues for goods and services never provided by Camano Water or used by West Coast. Allowing collection of the full user fees would be inequitable.

VI. CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with cases analyzing executory contracts and is in error by concluding there was no valid agreement between the parties.

The final Opinion of the Court of Appeals regarding money owed for co-op share dues is in error and creates a situation which violates the doctrine of supervening frustration and unjustly enriches Camano Water.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should accept review.