NO: 90262-3

IN THE SUPREM OF THE STATE OF W	ASHINGTON State S.
WEST COAST, INC. a Washington) Corporation,)	JUN 0 4 2014 Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk RESPONDENTS'
Appellant,)	-ieik
)	RESPONDENTS'
Vs.	ANSWER TO PETITION
)	FOR REVIEW
CAMANO CO-OPERATIVE)	
WATER AND POWER CO., a	
Washington Corporation,	
)	
Respondent.)	
)	

COMES NOW Respondent, by and through its attorney C. Thomas Moser, in opposition to Petitioner's Petition For Discretionary Review and now asks this Court to deny the petition.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

West Coast provides an incomplete and unfair statement of the case that was tried before the Honorable Judge Susan K. Cook in Skagit County Superior Court. This contract dispute is based on a written contract, called a Developer Extension Agreement, signed October 27, 2004. The parties failed to agree on even the most fundamental elements of the proposed project that was the subject of the Development Extension Agreement. The trial court correctly determined that the signed Developer Extension Agreement was inconsistent with what West Coast intended to construct. The parties were literally talking about development on different sides and different ends of West Camano Drive and thus had no meeting of the minds or mutual assent. As determined by the trial judge (Appendix 1, Findings) the failures were several and continuous, including the following:

- The Developer Extension Agreement referenced plans and specifications approved by the Co-op, but no plans were attached. *Finding No. 39*.
- The Developer Extension Agreement did not incorporate the oral agreement to share the cost of construction. *Finding No. 33*.
- The construction plans did not even exist at the time Appellant signed the Developer Extension Agreement. Conclusion 2(c).

- After the Agreement was signed construction plans were prepared by the engineer showing three crossings under West Camano Drive. Appellant did not notice that detail. *Finding No. 45*.
- To make matters worse, Appellant never talked to the engineer before signing the October 2004 Developer Extension Agreement and never talked to him at all in 2004. *Finding No. 45*.
- The engineering plans were approved by the Camano Coop board and sent to the State Department of Health, but not accepted by that agency. *Finding No. 47*.
- A disagreement between the parties occurred about what portion of the project was to be a shared cost. A meeting was scheduled to discuss this disagreement but Mr. Robinett declined to attend, so the issue never got resolved. *Finding No. 49*.
- The Co-op attempted a second time to discuss the disagreement over cost sharing with West Coast, but the invitation to resolve the issue was ignored by Mr. Robinett. *Finding No. 54*.
- The disagreement about the scope of the developer extension project surfaced in January 2006 when Mr. Robinett first objected to the engineering plans approved by the Co-op. *Finding No. 55*.

The parties were working with different assumptions and expectations about the work to be performed and the scope of the project. The parties did not even reach accord on how the project would be designed. West Coast's Statement of The Case does not mention any of these failures in the Agreement.

Another factual omission is that West Coast waited until one day before the six-year statute of limitations expired on written agreements and missed the three-year statute of limitations on oral agreements. See **Appendix 2**, Order Granting Summary Judgment, April 4, 2011.

Therefore, much of the history outlined in West Coast's Statement of Facts do not apply because the oral discussions and agreement between the parties were not before the trial judge for consideration.

West Coast incorrectly states that on November 1, 2004 Camano Co-op, approved "different plans" for upgrading the water system. The reference to "different plans" is misleading because the plans were not different from any other plans. The fact is there were no plans attached to the Developer Extension Agreement, despite the fact that the Agreement referenced attached plans. The trial court found that the necessary elements for a contract were missing, stating that at the time the Agreement was signed no plans were attached (Finding No. 39) and did not even exist at the time the Agreement was signed. (Conclusion 2(c). The plans developed in November were "different" from the prior plans only in the sense that nothing was ever attached to the Agreement.

II. ARGUMENT

1) Conflict in Case Law - Contract

West Coast's first claim is that the "decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with cases analyzing executory contract.2" West Coast does not explain how the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict

4

² Petition, page 9

with existing case law. However West Coast does reference two court cases in apparent support of the argument that there is a conflict of law.

The Court of Appeals determined that "Washington courts follow the 'objective manifestation' theory of contracts²" citing several recent cases.

West Coast does not articulate why the Court of Appeals was in error with regard to that determination.

Citing *Wise v. City of Chelan*, 133 Wn. App. 167, 135 P. 3d 951 (2006), West Coast argues that the elements of a contract in *Wise* are present in the instant case, but fails to state how that holding in *Wise* is in conflict with the Court of Appeals opinion.

West Coast then cites a 1920 case, *Mowbray Pearson Co. v. E. H.*Stanton Co., 109 Wash. 601, 187 P. 370 (1920) for the proposition that a promise for a promise is sufficient for a contract. Again, West Coast fails to explain how *Mowbray* is in conflict with the Court of Appeals opinion.

In *Mowbray* the Supreme Court reversed a trial court jury award for the plaintiff that was based on a written contract. The contract stated that the defendant agreed to sell ice to the plaintiff for delivery to north Spokane at a specific price per ton and not sell to other distributors. When the defendant refused to sell ice, plaintiff sued for damages. In reversing the

5

³ Unpublished Opinion, page 4

trial court the Supreme Court held there was no contact because one party did not make any promise:

It did not constitute a promise on the part of the respondent to solicit and deliver ice in the district defined, nor did it constitute a promise to buy of the appellant the ice it might sell in case it did solicit sales therein.

Mowbray Pearson Co. v. E. H. Stanton Co., 109 Wash. 601, 604, 187 P. 370, 371 (1920)

The *Mowbray* court simply determined that one of the parties (the plaintiff buyer) made no promise to do anything. The instant case is not about a simple promise for a promise, or about failure of consideration.

This case is about the parties having no objective manifestation of mutual assent to the terms of the contract.

With regard to the contract issue raised in the Petition the effort by

West Coast to address the considerations governing acceptance for

Review in RAP 13.4(b) fails.

2) Conflict of Law - Dues

Having just argued that a promise for a promise constitutes a contract, citing the *Mowbray* case, West Coast now abandons that reasoning to argue that a unilateral statement by one party is sufficient to bind both parties. West Coast argues that it was required to pay dues for water shares in the Co-op only as a conditional contract, and that the

condition was unilaterally imposed by Mr. Robinett, the principal for West Coast.

West Coast argues that the opinion "of the Court of Appeals ignores the contingent nature of the obligation to pay dues under the purchased shares⁴" and cites a number of prior cases. However, the Court of Appeals correctly understood that Mr. Robinett's letter was not a conditional contract. Pointing out that West Coast never demanded that the Co-op buy back the shares, the Court of Appeals stated the following concerning Mr. Robinett's letter about the Co-op buying back the water shares from West Coast:

The letter merely states that West Coast 'may' sell back the shares to the Co-op for the same price purchased.⁵

There was no demand that the Co-op repurchase the shares for the obvious reason the shares have value and will be required for the future sub-division and residential development of the property.

The only conflicting authority cited by West Coast in support of the contingent obligation theory is *First Methodist Episcopal Church v.*Soden, 131 Wash. 228, 229 P. 534 (1924) involving a promissory note and a conditional delivery of the note. There was no question that the delivery of the note was conditional on a future event. The holding in *First*

⁴ Petition, page 15

⁵ Opinion, page 7

Methodist was later criticized in Nelson Equipment Co. v. Goodman, 42 Wash. 2d 284, 254 P.2d 727 (1953) in a case involving parol testimony that was inconsistent with the writing. The Supreme Court in Nelson declined to apply the analysis in First Methodist and made the following holding:

The parol testimony, that defendant had until June 15, 1951, to decide whether he desired to keep the machine, is inconsistent with the written instruments, contradicts the terms of the writings, and hence, is inadmissible.

Nelson Equip. Co. v. Goodman, 42 Wn.2d 284, 290, 254 P.2d 727, 730 (1953)

However, the instant case is not about the parol evidence rule, it is about whether the Co-op has an obligation to repurchase West Coast's water share, or if there was ever a demand that the shares be repurchased.

3) Issue Raised For First Time On Appeal.

For the first time West Coast raises the issue of "Supervening Frustration Doctrine" in its Petition For Review to this Court. Citing Washington State Hop Producers, Inc. Liquidation Trust v. Goschie Farms, Inc., 112 Wn. 2d 694, 733 P. 2d 70 (1989) West Coast argues that because the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court and West Coast cannot develop its property "the reason for purchasing the extra lots

vanished.6" This is the first time the doctrine of supervening frustration has been raised by West Coast.

The appellate courts will only consider issues not raised in the trial court under limited circumstances. RAP 2.5 provides the claims that may be raised for the first time on appeal:

(a) Errors Raised for First Time on Review. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

If the Court does decide to review this new claim of error not raised before either the Court of Appeals or the trial court, the Co-op points out that West Coast still is the owner of the water shares and has never asked the Co-op to repurchase the shares. West Coast simply wishes to both keep the water shares because they are a valuable asset, but also wants to be relieved of paying dues until some point in the future.

4) Petitioner Assigned No Error to Findings and Conclusions Concerning Dues.

The trial court determined that like all shareholders West Coast was required to pay dues and assessments, and for several months after

⁶ Petition, page 16. It is assumed that the word "lots" in the Petition was intended to refer to water shares in the Co-op.

purchase of 20 shares West Coast did pay dues. In Findings Of Fact that are not challenged by West Coast, the trial court stated:

- 64. Shareholders in the Coop are required to pay membership fees (also called dues) and assessments. Resolution 2011-28 is the most recent resolution adopting rates and charges.
- 65. Plaintiff paid dues and assessments for the first several months after purchasing 20 additional shares, but discontinued payments after Plaintiff believed it was not getting cooperation from the Co-op to approve its project.

In the Assignments of Error West Coast did not assign error to either of these trial court findings. West Cost now asks this Court to accept a Petition For Discretionary Review to challenge Findings that were not challenged in the appeal to the Court of Appeals. Such Findings become verities on appeal and will not be considered by the appellate courts. RAP 10.3(g). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. *Standing Rock Homeowners Association v. Misich*, 106 Wash. App. 231, 23 P.3d 520 (2001).

4) Unjust Enrichment

Finally, West Coast raises the issue of "unjust enrichment" for the first time on appeal. It should be recalled that the dues are a matter facing all owners of the Camano Co-op, not just West Coast. See Finding of Fact Number 64. It is a shared shareholder responsibility to pay dues. Nothing

in the record supports West Coast's new argument that the dues structure is unjust. West Coast makes no reference to the trial court record in support of this new claim of error.

III. CONCLUSION

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate how the Court of Appeals committed any error or how this appeal complies with any of the considerations governing acceptance of review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). The Petition should be denied.